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SLCRETARIAT
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 %01 APR-S A & 3b
April 4, 2007

| MEMORANDUM | SENSITIVE

TO: ’ THE COMMISSION

THROUGH: PATRINA M. CLARK %
'STAFF DIRECTOR @

(
()
MARGARITA MAISONET @f
' CHIEF COMPLIANCE OFFIGER

FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON :
ASSISTANT STAFF{PIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION

SUBJECT: REASON TO BELIEVE RECOMMENDATION - 2006 12 DAY
S PRE-GENERAL (QUARTERLY FILERS) AND 30 DAY POST-
GENERAL REPORT FOR THE ADMINISTRATIVE FINE
PROGRAM

Attached are two lists of political committees and thelr treasurers who failed to

~file-or timely file the 2006 12 Day Pre-General and/or the 2004 30 Day Post-General
~ Reports in accordance with 2 U.S.C. 434(a). The 12 Day Pre-General list is comprised of
o _'unauthonzed committees filing quarterly that made general election contributions or
K 'expendntures from October 1, 2006 through October 18, 2006. The 30 Day Post- General
_list is comprised of authorized committees whose candidates sought election in the

. ‘November 7™ General Election, as well as unauthorized comm1ttees filing elther quarterly :
or monthly '

The 12 Day Pre-General Report was due on October 26, 2006 and should cover

the reportmg period from October 1, 2006 through October 18, 2006. The 30 Day Post-
General Report was due on December 7, 2006 and should cover the reporting period from
October 19, 2006 to November 27, 2006 or from October 1, 2006 through November 27,
2006, if the 12 Day Pre-General Report was not required.

The committees appearmg on the 12 Day Pre-General Report list ezther filed late |
or failed to file the report prior to four (4) days before the General Election (considered a .

non-filed report).” The committees appearing on the 30 Day Post-General Report list

either failed to file the report, filed the report more than five (5) days after the due date or -
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filed the report more than thirty (30) days after the due date (considered a non-filed
report). In accordance with 11 C.F.R. 111.43, these committees should be assessed the
civil money penalties included on the attached lists. '

As noted above, the 12 Day Pre-General Report circulation list .includes
unauthorized committees filing quarterly thrt fajled to file or failed to timely file the 12
Day Pre-General Report. Unlike unauthorized committees that file on a monthly basis, a
quarterly filer need only file this report if it made general election contributions or
expenditures between the dates of October 1, 2006 and October 18, 2006. In order to
accurately identify the committees for administrative fines purposes, the Reports Analysis
Division (RAD) used the following procedures and criteria:

e Every 12 Day Pre-General Report (12 Day Report) submitted by an unauthorized
quarterly filer was reviewed to ensure that it disclosed general election contributions
or expenditures made during the coverage dates of the report. Any report meeting this

“definition that was filed late is included in the list. Any report not disclosing general
election contributions or expenditures during this period is not included in the list, as
it is not a required filing. _ :

e Every 30 Day Post-General Report (30 Day Report) submitted by an unauthorized
quarterly filer that covered the period from October 1, 2006 through November 27,
2006 (58 days), was reviewed for activity which would have required the filing of a
12 Day Pre-General Report. If our research indicated that the filing of a 12 Day
Report was required, we utilized a two-step method to arrive at the estimated level of -
activity on which to base the fine amount. First, if the committee had any unitemized
activity, a per diem level of activity was used by multiplying the total amount of
activity on the report by 31% (18 days (12G Filing Period)/58 days (30G Filing
Period)).

o If the same committee also failed to file the 30 Day Report in a timely manner, we
based the 30 Day Report fine on the amount of the remaining level of activity. We
arrived at this amount by subtracting the estimated level of activity for the 12 Day
Report from the total amount of activity on the 30 Day Report. In these cases, the
committees will appear on both lists and will be assessed a fine for both the 12 Day
and 30 Day Reports based on the estimated levels of activity described above.

Recommendation

1. Find reason to believe that the political committees and their treasurers listed on the
RTB Circulation Reports violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalties would be the amounts indicated on the

RTB Circulation Reports.

2. Send the appropriate letters.
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20463 -

SENSITIVE

Tt

DATE‘A& TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Thursday, April 5, 2007 11:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Tuesday, April 10, 2007 4:00

]

o COMMISSIONER: LENHARD, MASON, von SPAKOVSKY, WALTHER, WEINTRAUB

P
E‘ ‘ SUBJECT: RTB Recommendation - 2006 12 Day Pre-General
m : (Quarterly Filers) and 30 Day Post-General Report For
..’“:3 The Administrative Fine Program. Memorandum from the
oo Assistant Staff Director, Reports Analysis Division
o dated April 4, 2007.
P
) () | approve the recommendation(s)
() , | object to the recommendation(s)
() | approve the recommendations except those following

to which | object (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

() I am not voting on this tally.

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION




BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Métter o'f

Reason To Believe Recommendation - 12

~ Day Pre-General (Quarterly Filers) and 30

Day Post-General Report For The

" Administrative Fine Program:

ADVANCED MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY
ASSOCIATION POLOTICAL ACTION -
COMMITTEE, and Kenneth Mendez as
treasurer; _

BI-COUNTY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (FKA SUFFOLK PAC), and
IRA LAMEL as treasurer;

DRUMMOND COMPANY INC.
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE

(DPAC), and Stanfield, Scott O. Mr. as

treasurer;

TERRIPAC, and BRIAN SCHIAVO as
{reasurer;

UNITED ASSN JOURNEYMEN &
APPRENT OF PLUMB & PIPEFITTING
IND LOCAL 322 COMM FOR POL ED,
and JAMES REED as treasurer;
COUNCIL FOR AFFORDABLE AND
RURAL HOUSING PAC INC (CARH
PAC), and TRAVIS A MILLER as
treasurer; '

FLORIDA FOR AMERICAS FUTURE
PAC, and HUGH WESTBROOK as
treasurer;

AAI CORPORATION POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD F
CHRIST as treasurer;

ADVANCED ACOUSTIC CONCEPTS
INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE,
and SCOTT WILLIAMS as treasurer;

\.Jv\./vvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvv

NN AN RN

AF# 1606

AF# 1611

AF# 1615

- AF# 1639

AF# 1640

AF# 1614

AF# 1618

AF# 1604

AF# 1605
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Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 10, 2007

AGRI-MARK, INC LEGISLATIVE AND
EDUCATIONAL COMMITTEE (ALEC),
and HAROLD LARRABEE as treasurer;

- AIRTRAN AIRWAYS INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and Gadek,

~_ Stanley as treasurer;

ARMENIAN AMERICAN PAC
(ARMENPAC), and Kechejian, Sarkis Dr.
as treasurer; ’

-AVAYA INCORPORATED POLITICAL
~ACTION COMMITTEE, and Crowders,
.. Charles E. as treasurer;

CNA FINANCIAL CORPORATION
- CITIZENS FOR GOOD GOVERNMENT,

and KAREN MELCHERT as treasurer;
CONSTELLATION BRANDS INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
PERRY HUMPHREY as treasurer;
ENERGEN CORPORATION POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE F/K/A
ALAGASCO INCPAC, and DUDLEY C

"REYNOLDS as treasurer;

FLORIDA PBA INC FRIENDS OF LAW
ENFORCEMENT, and DAVID BRUCE
MURRELL as treasurer;

FLORIDA SUGAR CANE LEAGUE PAC,

and Ryan Weston as treasurer;

FOREST LANDOWNERS
ASSOCIATION INC. POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and Jones, Scott
as treasurer;

GOVERNMENT IS NOT GOD, and
NANCY M MURRAY as treasurer;
HOOSIER POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (HOOSIER PAC), and
GILEAD KAPEN as treasurer;
INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL OF
CRUISE LINES POLITICAL ACTION
COMM (ICCL-PAC), and ] MICHAEL
CRYE as treasurer;

KIRKLAND, and Tomlinson, Stephen as
treasurer;

S N N N N N N N N N S N N N N N N N N N

N N’ N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N’

AF# 1607

AF# 1608

AF# 1609
AF# 1610
AF# 1612
AF# 1613

AF# 1616

AF# 1619

AF# 1620

AF# 1621

AF# 1622

AF# 1623

"AF# 1624

AF# 1625

- Page 2




Federal Election Commission _ Page 3
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 10, 2007
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MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL INC.
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
Froehlich, Melissa Ms. as treasurer;

MWW GROUP INC POLITICAL ACTION

COMMITTEE, THE, and SETH
ROSENSTEIN as treasurer;

OHIO FINANCIAL SERVICES
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
Sander, Joseph R MTr. as treasurer;
PUBLIC SERVICE ENTERPRISE GROUP
INC. POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(PEGPAC), and G, Mark Mr. Kahrer as
treasurer,

RECREATIONAL FISHING ALLIANCE
PAC, and Stacey, Schneller A as treasurer;
REHABCARE GROUP INC PAC, and
MARK ANTHONY BOGOVICH as
treasurer; -

REPUBLICAN JEWISH COALITION-
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(RIC-PAC), and Brooks, Matthew as
treasurer;

'RESPONSIBILITY AND FREEDOM

WORK PAC (RFWPAC), and JOHN P
NAIL as treasurer;

SI INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and Thomas E.

: Dunn as treasurer;
"SNOW PAC, and Stanley R. de Waal as
‘treasurer;
. SOCIETY FOR VASCULAR SURGERY
:'».ZPO_LITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and

REBECCA MARON as treasurer;
SOUTHEAST MILK INC POLITICAL

" ACTION COMMITTEE, and CHARLES
. GARRISON as treasurer;
. WELLCARE HEALTH PLANS INC. PAC
""(WELLCARE PAC), and Smith, David K.

as treasurer,

\_/vvvvs_/\.«vvv\./vvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvvv

AF# 1626

AF# 1627

AF# 1628

AF# 1629

AF# 1630 .

AF# 1631
AF# 1632
AF# 1633

AF# 1635

AF# 1636

AF# 1637
AF# 1638

AF# 1641




Federal Election Com:%ion . , ‘ Page 4

Certification for Administrative Fines
April 10, 2007

CORRECTED CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election Commission, do hereby
- certify that on April 10, 2007 the Commission took the following actions on the Reason
To Believe Recommendation - 12 Day Pre-General (Quarterly Filers) and 30 Déj}"_Post- :

_ General Report For The Administrative Fine Program as recommended in-the: Reports o

o B v
o I Analy51s D1v151on s Memorandum dated April 04, 2007, on the followmg comm1ttees

fone ) C

i) . T
@ : R
W ‘ -~ AF#1606 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that ADVANCED
™ MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY ASSOCIATION POLOTICAL ACTION COMMITTEE

:i‘?“: and Kenneth Mendez as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary -

e determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
™ ~ (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and

Walther voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

~ AF#1611 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that BI-=COUNTY
 POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (FKA SUFFOLK PAC), and IRA LAMEL as
~ treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively
- for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1615 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that DRUMMOND
COMPANY INC. POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (DPAC), and Stanfield, Scott O.
Mr. as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatlvely
for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1639 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that TERRIPAC,
and BRIAN SCHIAVO as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and
Walther voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1640 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that UNITED

ASSN JOURNEYMEN & APPRENT OF PLUMB & PIPEFITTING IND LOCAL 322
"COMM FOR POL ED, and JAMES REED as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and

make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount



Federal Election Commission , . | Page 5
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 10, 2007

. indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason,
' von Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner
Weintraub did not vote.

: AF#1614 = Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that COUNCIL.
.. FOR AFFORDABLE AND RURAL HOUSING PAC INC (CARH PAC), and TRAVIS
A MILLER as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
" “that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the. -
appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted
afﬁrmatlvely for the decision. Comm1ssmner Weintraub did not vote.

iy

;"“ | * ‘AF#]618 " Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to beheve that FLORIDA -
&y FOR AMERICAS FUTURE PAC, and HUGH WESTBROOKX as treasurer violated.2
o U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would
oY _ ... be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners

Q: : Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted afﬁrmatlvely for the dCClSIOII :
o Comm1531oner Weintraub did not vote. '

Fos ‘

&

AF#1604 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that AAI
CORPORATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD F CHRIST as
treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
. Jetter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively
- for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1605 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that ADVANCED
ACOUSTIC CONCEPTS INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and SCOTT
WILLIAMS as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a. preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the

~_appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1607 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that AGRI-MARK,
INC LEGISLATIVE AND EDUCATIONAL COMMITTEE (ALEC), and HAROLD
LARRABEE as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.
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AF#1608 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to bélieve that AIRTRAN
AIRWAYS INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and Gadek, Stanley as treasurer
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money

‘penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. -

Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted afﬁrmatlvely for the
decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1609 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that A RMEN‘ 'I: A N

- AMERICAN PAC (ARMENPAC), and Kechejian, Sarkis Dr. as treasurer’ v1olated 2
~ U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would

be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commxssmners
Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively for the dec1s1on

- Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1610 - Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that AVAYA
INCORPORATED POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and Crowders, Charles E.as
treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted afﬁrmatlvely
for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

- AF#1612 "Decided by a vote of 4—0 to: (1) find reason to believe that CN.A'A" -
- FINANCIAL CORPORATION CITIZENS FOR GOOD GOVERNMENT, and KAREN

MELCHERT as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted
affirmatively for the decision. Comm1s510ner Weintraub did not vote. '

AF#1613 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that '
CONSTELLATION BRANDS INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and PERRY
HUMPHREY as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a prehmmary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote. -

AF#1616 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that ENERGEN
CORPORATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE F/K/A ALAGASCOQ INC PAC,
and DUDLEY C REYNOLDS as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von

Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub
did not vote.
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AF#1619  Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that FLOR]ZDA
PBA INC FRIENDS OF LAW ENFORCEMENT, and DAVID BRUCE MURRELL as
treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the ¢ivil

o - money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate: = =~ © - -
N - letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted afﬁrmatwely L

5;:;- ' for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote. R

::;:; . ~ AF#1620 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that FLORIDA

S SUGAR CANE LEAGUE PAC, and Ryan Weston as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)

o A and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount

:'f indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason,

o von Spakovsky, and Walther voted afﬁrmanve]y for the decision. Commissioner

Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1621 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that FOREST -

- LANDOWNERS ASSOCIATION INC. POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and -
Jones, Scott as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1622 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that
GOVERNMENT IS NOT GOD, and NANCY M MURRAY as treasurer violated 2 ,
U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would
be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted afﬁrmatlvely for the decision.
Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1623 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that HOOSIER

POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (HOOSIER PAC), and GILEAD KAPEN as

treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil
- money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate

letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted affiratively
for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1624 - Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that
INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL OF CRUISE LINES POLITICAL ACTION COMM
(ICCL-PAC), and ] MICHAEL CRYE as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
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preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von
Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub
did not vote.

_AF#1625 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that KIRKLAND

and Tomlinson, Stephen as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the: report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and

_ Walther voted afﬁrmatlvely for the decision. Comm1ssmner Wemtraub did not vote L

' AF#1626 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that MARRIOTT o

- INTERNATIONAL INC. POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and Froehlich; Melissa ="

: Ms as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the o
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate . -

letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted afﬁrmatlvely '

for the decision. Comm1551oner Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1627 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that MWW GROUP
INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, THE, and SETH ROSENSTEIN as treasurer -
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate létter.

: Cpmmissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively for the
“décision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1628 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that OHIO
FINANCIAL SERVICES POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and Sander, Joseph R
Mr. as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary. determination that the -

"clyll money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropnate
letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively
o for the decision. Comm1ss1oner Weintraub did not vote. -

' fAF#1629 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that PUBLIC
- SERVICE ENTERPRISE GROUP INC. POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE o
- (PEGPAC), and G, Mark Mr. Kahrer as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(2) and make a .
o preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
,‘_.jthe report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von
, "-Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Welntraub
did not vote :

‘ AF#163O Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that

RECREATIONAL FISHING ALLIANCE PAC, and Stacey, Schneller A as treasurer
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
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Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively for the
decision. Comm1s31oner Wemtraub did not vote.

AF#1631 Decided by a vote of 4- 0 to: (1) find reason to believe that REHABCARE
GROUP INC PAC, and MARK ANTHONY BOGOVICH as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the
amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard,
Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner
Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1632 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that REPUBLICAN
JEWISH COALITION-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (RJC-PAC), and Brooks,
Matthew as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that
the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1633  Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that '
RESPONSIBILITY AND FREEDOM WORK PAC (RFWPAC), and JOHN P NAIL as
treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted afﬁrmatlvely
for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1635 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that SI
INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and Thomas E. Dunn as
treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively
for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1636 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that SNOW PAC,
and Stanley R. de Waal as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)-and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and
Walther voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1637 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that SOCIETY FOR
VASCULAR SURGERY POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and REBECCA
MARON as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that

- the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the

appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.
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AF#1638 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that SOUTHEAST
MILK INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and CHARLES GARRISON as
treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted afﬁrmatwely

_for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub dxd not vote.

AF#1641 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that WELLCARE
HEALTH PLANS INC. PAC (WELLCARE PAC), and Smith, David K. as treasurer
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money .

~ penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate leter. -~ - *
Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted afﬁrmatlvely for the o

demsmn Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

Attest:

/Qpﬂz‘};,%w// 2007 % U K)m

Date Mary W. Plove
‘ Secretary of the Commission



Y |

P
=y
ey
ay]
"™
4]

e,
]

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

April 12, 2007

Gilead Kapen

Hoosier Political Action Committee (Hoosier PAC)
P.O. Box 77089

Washington, DC 20013

C00338848
AF#: 1623

Dear Gilead Kapen:

The Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended ("the Act"), requires that your
committee file a 12 Day Pre-General Report of Receipts and Disbursements in a calendar year during
which there is a regularly scheduled election. This report is required if your committee makes a
contribution to or expenditure on behalf of a candidate in the general election. This report, covering
the period through 10/18/2006, shall be filed no later than 10/26/2006, 2 U.S.C. 434(a). You were
previously notified of the due date for this report. Records at the Federal Election Commission
("FEC") indicate that this report was not filed prior to four (4) days before the General Election held on
11/7/2006. You should file the report if you have not already done so.

The Act was further amended in 1999 to permit the FEC to impose civil money penalties for
violations of the reporting requirements of 2 U.S.C. 434(a). 2 U.S.C. 437g(a)(4). On 4/10/2007, the
FEC found that there is reason to believe ("RTB") that Hoosier Political Action Committee (Hoosier
PAC) and you, as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) by failing to file timely this report on or before
10/26/2006. Based on the FEC's schedules of civil money penalties at 11 C.F.R. 111.43, the amount of
your civil money penalty calculated at the RTB stage is $1,750. It is due by 5/20/2007 and is based on
these factors:

Election Sensitivity of Report: Election Sensitive
Level of Activity: $37,000

Number of Days Late: Not Filed

Number of Previous Civil Money Penalties Assessed: 1

To Pay the Calculated Civil Money Penalty
To pay the calculated civil money penalty, send the enclosed remittance and your payment to

the FEC at the address on page 3. Upon receipt of your payment, the FEC will send you a final
determination letter.

To Challenge the RTB Finding and/or Calculated Civil Money Penalty _

To challenge the RTB finding and/or calculated civil money penalty, you must submit a
written response, including the AF# found on page one, to the FEC's Office of Administrative Review,
999 E Street, NW, Washington, DC 20463. Your response must be received by 5/20/2007. Your
written response must include the reason(s) why you are challenging the RTB finding and/or calculated
civil money penalty. The FEC will only consider challenges that are based on a factual error,
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miscalculation of the calculated civil money penalty by the FEC, or the existence of extraordinary
circumstances that persisted for more than 48 hours that were beyond your control and prevented you
from filing the report in a timely manner. Your response must include the factual basis supporting the
reason(s) and supporting documentation. The FEC strongly encourages that documents be submitted
in the form of affidavits or declarations. Examples of circumstances that will not be considered
extraordinary include, but are not limited to, negligence, problems with vendors or contractors, staff
illness, computer failures and similar circumstances. 11 C.F.R. 111.35(b)(1)(iii) and (4).

Your failure to raise an argument in a timely fashion during the administrative process shall
be deemed a waiver of your right to present such argument in a petition to the district court under 2
U.S.C.437g. 11 C.F.R. 111.38.

If you intend to be represented by counsel, please advise the Office of Administrative
Review. You should provide, in writing, the name, address and telephone number of your counsel and
authorize counsel to receive notifications and communications relating to this challenge and imposition
of the calculated civil money penalty.

If You Do Not Pay the Calculated Civil Money Penalty or Submit a Challenge

If you do not pay the calculated civil money penalty or submit a written response, the FEC
will assume that the preceding factual allegations are true and make a final determination that Hoosier
Political Action Committee (Hoosier PAC) and you, as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty.

Unpaid civil money penalties assessed through the Administrative Fine regulations will be
subject to the Debt Collection Act of 1982 ("DCA") as amended by the Debt Collection Improvement
Act of 1996, 31 U.S.C. 3701 et seq. The FEC may take any and all appropriate action authorized and
required by the DCA, as amended, including transfer to the U.S. Department of the Treasury for
collection. 11 C.F.R. 111.45.

This matter was generated based on information ascertained by the FEC in the normal course of
carrying out its supervisory responsibilities. 2 U.S.C. 437g(a)(2). It will remain confidential in
accordance with 2 U.S.C. 437g(a)(4)(B) and 437g(a)(12)(A) until it is placed on the public record in
accordance with 11 C.F.R. 111.42, unless you notify the FEC in writing that you wish the matter to be
made public.

Additional information on the FEC's administrative fine program, including the final
regulations, is located at the FEC's website at www.FEC.gov. If you have questions regarding the
payment of the calculated civil money penalty, please contact Rhiannon Ryan in the Reports Analysis
Division at our toll free number (800) 424-9530 (at the prompt press 5) or (202) 694-1130. If you have
questions regarding the submission of a challenge, please contact the Office of Administrative Review
at our toll free number (800) 424-9530 (press 0, then ext. 1660) or (202) 694-1660.

Sincerely,

TAHIIL

Robert D. Lenhard
Chairman
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ADMINISTRATIVE FINE REMITTANCE & PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS

PAGE 3

In accordance with the schedule of penalties at 11 C.F.R. 111.43, the amount of your civil
money penalty calculated at RTB is $1,750 for the 2006 12 Day Pre-General Report.

Please mail this remittance with a check or money order made payable to the Federal Election
Commission to the following address:

Federal Election Commission
P.O. Box 979058
St. Louis, MO 63197-9000

If you choose to send your remittance and payment by courier or overnight delivery, please
use this address:

U.S. Bank - Government Lockbox

FEC #979058

1005 Convention Plaza

Attn: Government Lockbox, SL-MO-C2GL
St. Louis, MO 63101

The remittance and your payment are due by 5/20/2007. Upon receipt of your remittance and
payment, the FEC will send you a final determination letter.

PAYMENTS BY PERSONAL CHECK

Personal checks will be converted into electronic funds transfers (EFTS). Your account will be
electronically debited for the amount on your check, usually within 24 hours, and the debit will appear
on your regular statement. We will destroy your original check and keep a copy of it. In case the EFT
cannot be processed for technical reasons, you authorize us to process the copy in lieu of the original
check. Should the EFT not be completed because of insufficient funds, we may try to make the
transfer twice.

PLEASE DETACH AND RETURN THE PORTION BELOW WITH YOUR PAYMENT

FOR: Hoosier Political Action Committee (Hoosier PAC)
FEC ID#: C00338848

AF#: 1623

PAYMENT DUE DATE: 5/20/2007

PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE: $1,750
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SENSITIVE
MEMORANDUM
TO: THE COMMISSION
A THROUGH: ~ PATRINA M. CLARK (fJIF
. | STAFF DIRECTOR
‘W ‘ .
@ - JOHND. GIBSON%
@ ACTING CHIEF C LIANCE OFFICER
R ' .
o FROM: CRAIG CROOKSS=— ~
e ACTING ASSISTANT STAFF DIRECTOR

™ REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION

SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINE PROGRAM - FINAL . '
- -DETERMINATION RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2006 12
" DAY PRE-GENERAL (QUARTERLY FILERS) AND 30 DAY

- POST-GENERAL REPORTS FOR THE ADMINISTRATIVE
FINE PROGRAM

Attached are four lists of political committees and their treasurers against which
the Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
penalties calculated at RTB for failure to file or failure to timely file the 2006 12 Day

Pre-General and/or the 2006 30 Day Post-General Reports. The attached lists contain the
following:

First List — 12 Day Pre-General - Paid
Second List — 12 Day Pre-General - Not Paid

. Third List — 30 Day Post-General Report — Paid
Fourth List — 30 Day Post-General Report — Not Paid

The committees that have not paid have been given at least forty (40) days from
the date of the Commission’s RTB finding to remit payment.

In accordance with 11 CFR 111.34 and 11 CFR 111.40, the Commission shall

send a final determination notice to those respondents that have either paid or not paid the .
civil money penalty.
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For your information, Committee to Elect William (Willie) Vaden for Congress
(AF 1654) filed the 2006 30 Day Post-General Report after the RTB finding and
disclosed a level of activity which would result in a lowered civil-money penalty. The
committee disclosed total receipts and disbursements of $867.00 (previously estimated to
be $27,135.00), thus the fine would be lowered from $1,125.00 to $312.00. The
committee paid the civil money penalty assessed at RTB; we will therefore issue a refund -

v for the difference.

" RAD Recommendation

(1) Make final determination that the political committees and their treasurers on the

- attached reports violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the final civil money penalties so - .-
~ indicated. Aty

~ (2) Send the appropriate letters.
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- In the Matter of

" Administrative Fines Final Determination
~“Recommendation for the 2006 12 Day Pre-
- " General (Quarterly Filers) and 30 Day Post-
" General Reports for The Administrative
- 'Fine Program:

. CHRIST as treasurer;
. ADVANCED ACOUSTIC CONCEPTS

.- COMMITTEE, and Kenneth Mendez as

BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION ,

AAI CORPORATION POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD F

INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE,
and SCOTT WILLIAMS as treasurer; -
ADVANCED MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY
ASSOCIATION POLOTICAL ACTION

treasurer; v

AGRI-MARK, INC LEGISLATIVE AND
EDUCATIONAL COMMITTEE (ALEC),
and HAROLD LARRABEE as treasurer;
AIRTRAN AIRWAYS INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and Gadek,
Stanley as treasurer;

ARMENIAN AMERICAN PAC
(ARMENPAC), and Kechejian, Sarkis Dr.
as treasurer; R

AVAYA INCORPORATED POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and Crowders,
Charles E. as treasurer;

BI-COUNTY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (FKA SUFFOLK PAC), and
IRA LAMEL as treasurer;

COUNCIL FOR AFFORDABLE AND
RURAL HOUSING PAC INC (CARH
PAC), and TRAVIS A MILLER as
treasurer;

AF# 1604
AF# 1605

ATF# 1606

AF# 1607
AF# 1608
AF# 1609
AF# 1610

AF# 1611

AF# 1614 -
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' DRUMMOND COMPANY INC. . AF# 1615
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(DPAC), and Stanfield, Scott O. Mr. as
treasurer, .
ENERGEN CORPORATION POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE F/K/A
ALAGASCO INC PAC, and DUDLEY C
REYNOLDS as treasurer;
FLORIDA FOR AMERICAS FUTURE
PAC, and HUGH WESTBROOK as
s treasurer; '
I FLORIDA SUGAR CANE LEAGUE PAC,
¥ and Ryan Weston as treasurer;
= FOREST LANDOWNERS
g ASSOCIATION INC. POLITICAL
/I ACTION COMMITTEE, and Jones, Scott
£ as treasurer;
- GOVERNMENT IS NOT GOD, and
NANCY M MURRAY as treasurer;
HOOSIER POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (HOOSIER PAC), and-
GILEAD KAPEN as treasurer;
INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL OF
CRUISE LINES POLITICAL ACTION
COMM (ICCL-PAC), and ] MICHAEL
CRYE as treasurer; .
KIRKLAND, and Tomlinson, Stephen as
treasurer,
MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL INC.
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
Froehlich, Melissa Ms. as treasurer;
MWW GROUP INC POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, THE, and SETH
ROSENSTEIN as treasurer;
PUBLIC SERVICE ENTERPRISE GROUP
INC. POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(PEGPAC), and G, Mark Mr. Kahrer as
treasurer,
RECREATIONAL FISHING ALLIANCE
PAC, and Stacey, Schneller A as treasurer;
REPUBLICAN JEWISH COALITION-
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(RIC-PAC), and Brooks, Matthew as
treasurer;

AF# 1616

AF# 1618
AF# 1620
AF# 1621
AF# 1622
AF# 1623
AF# 1624
AF# 1625
AF# 1626
AF# 1627
AF# 1629

AF# 1630

AF# 1632
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o  SOUTHEAST MILK INC POLITICAL
.. "GARRISON as treasurer;
T . treasurer,
.7 ‘UNITED ASSN JOURNEYMEN &

< APPRENT OF PLUMB & PIPEFITTING
~* IND LOCAL 322 COMM FOR POL ED,

- (WELLCARE PAC), and Smith, David K.

Federal Election Commission . ' " Page 3

Certification for Administrative Fines
June 25, 2007

RESPONSIBILITY AND FREEDOM - AF#1633
WORK PAC (RFWPAC), and JOHN P

- NAIL as treasurer;

- SNOW PAC, and Stanley R. de Waal as
- treasurer,

AF#1636 -

| AF# 1638
'ACTION COMMITTEE, and CHARLES |

TERRIPAC, and BRIAN SCHIAVO as AF# 1639

AF# 1640

‘and JAMES REED as treasurer;

WELLCARE HEALTH PLANS INC. PAC AF# 1641

Vvvwvvvvvvvvv‘v

as treasurer;.

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary ofthe Federal Election Commission, do hereby
certify that on June 25, 2007 the Commission took the following actions on the
Administrative Fines Final Determination Reeommendation for the 2006 12 Day Pre-
General (Quarterly Filers) and 30 Day Post-General Reports for The Adnrinistrative Fine
Program as recommended ‘in the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated June 19;

2007, on the following committees:

AF#1604 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that AAI
CORPORATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD F CHRIST as
treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1605 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
ADVANCED ACOUSTIC CONCEPTS INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
SCOTT WILLIAMS as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
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penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von
Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1606 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that - _
ADVANCED MEDICAL TECHNOLOGY ASSOCIATION POLOTICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and Kenneth Mendez as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess
the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners

~ Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF#1607 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that AGRI-
MARK, INC LEGISLATIVE AND EDUCATIONAL COMMITTEE (ALEC), and
HAROLD LARRABEE as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von
Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1608 ‘Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that -
AIRTRAN AIRWAYS INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and Gadek, Stanley
as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. :

AF#1609 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
ARMENIAN AMERICAN PAC (ARMENPAC), and Kechejian, Sarkis Dr. as treasurer ,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther, and
Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1610 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that AVAYA
INCORPORATED POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and Crowders, Charles E. as
treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1611 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that BI-
COUNTY POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (FKA SUFFOLK PAC), and IRA
LAMEL as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von
Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1614 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
COUNCIL FOR AFFORDABLE AND RURAL HOUSING PAC INC (CARH PAC),
and TRAVIS A MILLER as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil
money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard,
Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
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AF#1615 " Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
- DRUMMOND COMPANY INC. POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (DPAC), and

Stanfield, Scott O. Mr. as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money
penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von
Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

 AF#1616 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that . .-
. ENERGEN CORPORATION POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE F/K/A. = . -
" ALAGASCO INC PAC, and DUDLEY C REYNOLDS as treasurer , violated 2 U.S. C
:434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter ’
- Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted -
- afﬁrmatlve]y for the decision.

AF#161 8 Decided by a.vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that FLORIDA

FOR AMERICAS FUTURE PAC, and HUGH WESTBROOK as treasurer , violated 2 -
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF#l 620 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that FLORIDA
SUGAR CANE LEAGUE PAC, and Ryan Weston as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.:
Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1621 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that FOREST
LANDOWNERS ASSOCIATION INC. POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
Jones, Scott as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von '
Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1622 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
GOVERNMENT IS NOT GOD, and NANCY M MURRAY as treasurer , violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision. ‘

AF#1623 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that HOOSIER
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (HOOSIER PAC), and GILEAD KAPEN as
treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
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AF#1624 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL OF CRUISE LINES POLITICAL ACTION COMM
(ICCL-PAC), and ] MICHAEL CRYE as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess
the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF#1625 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
KIRKLAND, and Tomlinson, Stephen as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess
the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the
decision. ’

AF#1626 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL INC. POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
Froehlich, Melissa Ms. as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money

penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von

Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1627 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that MWW
GROUP INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, THE, and SETH ROSENSTEIN as’
treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1629 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that PUBLIC
SERVICE ENTERPRISE GROUP INC. POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE
(PEGPAC), and G, Mark Mr. Kahrer as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess
the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF#1630 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that -
RECREATIONAL FISHING ALLIANCE PAC, and Stacey, Schneller A as treasurer ,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther, and
Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1632 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
REPUBLICAN JEWISH COALITION-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (RJC- -
PAC), and Brooks, Matthew as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil
money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard,
Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.
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. AF#1633 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that

RESPONSIBILITY AND FREEDOM WORK PAC (RFWPAC), and JOHN P NAIL as
treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther,

and Weintraub voted afﬁrmatxvely for the decision.

AF#1636 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that SNOW

- PAC, and Stanley R. de Waal as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil
~ money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, ‘
'Mason von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decmon S

| AF#1638 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that .

SOUTHEAST MILK INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and CHARLES
GARRISON as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty 50
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von
Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1639 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
TERRIPAC, and BRIAN SCHIAVO as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess
the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted afﬁnnatlvely for the

_decision.

AF#1640 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that UNITED
ASSN JOURNEYMEN & APPRENT OF PLUMB & PIPEFITTING IND LOCAL 322
COMM FOR POL ED, and JAMES REED as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF#1641 Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
WELLCARE HEALTH PLANS INC. PAC (WELLCARE PAC), and Smith, David K. as
treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)"
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, Walther,
and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Attest:

ove
Secretar f the Commission

;LW_ 29 2007 % N A soe




"J

.
u:m’
el
Xy
™
o
()
P,

"

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

June 27, 2007

Gilead Kapen, Treasurer

Hoosier Political Action Committee (Hoosier PAC)
P.O. Box 77089

Washington, DC 20013

C00338848
AF#: 1623

Dear Gilead Kapen,

On 4/10/2007, the Federal Election Commission ("FEC") found reason to believe
("RTB") that Hooster Political Action Committee (Hoosier PAC) and you, as treasurer, violated
2 U.S.C. 434(a) for filing late or failing to file the 2006 Pre-General Report. By letter dated
4/12/2007 the FEC sent you notification of the RTB finding that included a civil money penalty
calculated at the RTB stage of $1,750 in accordance with the schedule of penalties at 11 C.F.R.
111.43. :

On 6/11/2007, the FEC received payment of your civil money penalty calculated at the
RTB stage. The FEC made a final determination on 6/25/2007 that you, as treasurer, and
Hoosier Political Action Committee (Hoosier PAC) violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a), assessed a civil

money penalty in the amount of $1,750 in accordance with 11 C.F.R. 111.43, and voted to close
the file.

The confidentiality provisions at 2 U.S.C. 437g(a)(12) no longer apply and this matter
is now public. The file will be made a part of the public record pursuant to 11 C.F.R. 111.42(b).
Although the file must be placed on the public record within thirty (30) days from the date of the

Commission's notification, this could occur at anytime following certification of the
Commission's vote.

If you have any questions regarding this matter, please contact Rhiannon Ryan on our
toll free number (800) 424-9530 (at the prompt press 5) or (202) 694-1130.

Sincerely,

0.9

Robert D. Lenhard
Chairman
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: FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington DC 20463

THIS IS THE END OF ADMINISTRATIVE FINE CASE # /423

'DATE SCANNED 2-25-67

SCANNER NO. A2

SCAN OPERATOR i
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